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A FTER OVERCOMING the difticult crisis brought about by World War I, and the
shock of caused by becoming subject to a different state, which meant breaking
some traditional connections linked to providing raw materials and product
distribution markets, especially n the case of goods not exclusively intended
for the local market, Oradea regained its position as industrial and commercial
centre supported, as previously, primarily by Jewish and Hungarian investors,
as well as Romanian ones, after the city’s gradual integration in the economy
of unified Romania. Important Romanian initiatives emerged and materialised,
either at local or national level. An interwar infusion of foreign capital, especially
German, French and American, contributed to the technical update of factories
with modern machines and tools.

At the beginning of the 1920s, the Jewish inhabitants of Oradea underwent
the effort of adapting to the new political realities. In the space of a few years, it
was possible to rebuild even partially the pre-war relations with other factories
or with supply and distribution markets situated outside interwar Romania.
Added to this, there were other opportunities provided by the existence of the
new state: an important distribution and raw materials market, alongside a place
in the system of traditional economic ties that the Romanian state developed
and supported abroad. Consequently, the interwar period was beneficial for
the economic activity of Oradea Jews, as they were able to continue, resume
or initiate new economic projects. At a closer look, this was the last moment
when the Jews had the opportunity to make their voices heard (which they
did) in a city where they had felt at ease and where they had brought their
important contribution to its development and prosperity. As it is well known,
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this period was followed by the ordeal of the ghettos and the Nazi extermination,
organised with the complicity of the Hungarian Horthyst regime and, shortly
afterwards, the successive blows from the communist regime that assumed
power in Romania, the most tragic of which was the fact that the state became
the owner of factories through nationalisation, thus leaving hundreds of families
without the product of several generations’ efforts, intelligence, financial and
emotional resources. The Jewish populations’ attempts to adapt to the realities
of the communist regime was rather an exercise in survival, which revealed both
the efforts of one party to demonstrate its contributions and merits to a leftist
regime, and the highlighting of previously developed management skills that
were useful even under the new circumstances. The next stage in the evolution
of the Romanian communist regime, as it is known, was a nationalist one that
encouraged the emigration of several non-Romanian ethnic groups — such as the
Jews, which resulted in a dramatic reduction of the Oradea Jewish community
with negative consequences for itself and for the city.

What was left behind to bear witness before history was the patrimony
comprising the civil or industrial architecture of cotemporary Oradea,
synagogues and schools. This is a valuable heritage that today’s community has
the duty of preserving well for the future generations as a token of the city’s
multicultural identity where the Jewish community, together with the Romanian
and Hungarian ones, played a particularly important role.

After this brief presentation of the context, we will proceed to outline the
general picture of Oradea’s industry between 1920 and 1940, highlighting the
important Jewish presence and the contribution of some representative Jewish
industrialists.

The political changes did not bring essential changes in the structure of Oradea
industry, characterised rather by continuity and solidarity with the prewar period
in the case of developed industrialised sectors.

The presence of an important agricultural hinterland, the relatively numerous
population of the city, and the traditions of previous decades contributed to the
prominent position of the food industry within the city’s economy. In agreement
primarily with the needs of the local market, the large factories operating in the
food industry sector were milling factories and bakeries. The previously existing
factories, which had been established before the war, developed difterently; The
Steam Mill and the Pearl Barley and Millet Decortication Factory “Adria”, owned
by Adolf Moskovits and sons, established in 1890, was destroyed in a fire in
1922; some others, like the “Rollinger” Water Mill,' the “Léderer si Kalman”
Steam Mill that had functioned since 19102 in a building designed and built by
the famous architect Kdlman Rimandczy junior® or the “Ldszlo and Hunyadi”
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Joint Mills Stock Company with which it merged in 1924, the “Emilia” Roll Mill

(the former “Jakab Weinberger” Roll Mill established in 1884)* continued to exist
and managed to keep up with the competition represented by newly established
companies in the field, such as the “Maria” Luxury Mill — which became
the “Venetin” Mill — created in 1925, the “loan Ardelean” Mill, authorised to
function since 1927, or the “Victoria” Systematic Mill.> The bakery production
was provided primarily by the “Elisabeta” Bread Factory since 1922.°

An important share of the interwar food industry was represented by the
confectionary industry — candy and chocolate — and pastry products by the
“Patria” Chocolate and Pastry Factory, established in 1920, and by the “Stepper
and Petvovics” Candy and Sugary Products Factory, created two years later.”

The earliest industrial endeavours in Oradea are recorded in the spirits
industry, which made the transition from small manufactures to factories in the
city: in 1848, Mdrton Hillinger laid the foundation of a small alcohol company,
his example being followed in a short space of time by other local or naturalised
businessmen who established the “Daniel Berger” Alcohol and Yeast Factory or
the Fiihsl brothers’ wine production and distribution company, both established
in 1850, followed, a year later by the “Henrik Loble” Refined Alcohol Factory,
the “Léderer and Kalmdn” Joint Stock Refined Alcohol Factory (1857), the “Adolf
Moskovits and Sons” Alcohol and Yeast Factory, inaugurated in 1864,* and the “Mor
Moskovits and Son” Alcobol Factory’ that continued to function until the 1948
nationalisation.

The “Léderer and Kalman” Alcohol Factory was bought in the sixth decade of the
19* century by Antal Léderer and Ferenc Kdlman'® and it quickly became known
all over Austria. Its products were appreciated and exported in the countries of
the Balkan Peninsula and the Middle East. The factory functioned alongside
one for the processing and packaging of milk."! The ,,Léderer si Kalman” Alcohol
Factory created in 1891 the Factory of Artificial Fertiliser. It also laid the bases of
the “Aurora” Ether Factory in 1905. Towards the end of the third decade of the
20™ century, the industrial complex was affected by the negative effects of the
economic depression. Because of these circumstances, the board of directors
decided to cease the activity of the alcohol factory and refinery; however, the mill
remained operational.

During the interwar period, the largest alcoholic beverage factory in Oradea
was the “Dreber-Haggenmacher” S.A. Beer Factory, which had borne this name
since 1923, when it was reorganised. It was located on the premises where
there had been a manufacture-type beer brewery owned by the Roman-Catholic
Bishopric since 1727.'? The company, with a capital of 30,000,000, established
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in the General assembly of October 11, 1924, with an annual production of
16,500,000 litres, the company was ranked among the first five beer factories
in Romania at the time."® Until 1930, Antal Dreher and Oszkar Haggenmacher
became the majority shareholders.'* The beer produced here was appreciated all
over the country, being distributed in other cities and having bottling capacities
in Baia Mare, Targu Mures or Salonta.

The manufacturing industry also continued its activities from the pre-war
period, especially in the case of the shoe industry, whose bases had been laid
at the end of the 19" century when the “Farkas Moskovits si Asociatul” First
Oraden Shoe and Boot Factory was created; this flourished in the interwar period,
becoming one of the largest factories in Oradea, with a daily production of
1,000 shoes. On February 10, 1924, the factory changed its name to the
“Derby” Shoe Factory." It had 48 branched, 20 in Romania, 22 in Hungary, 3
in Czechoslovakia, 2 in Yugoslavia and one in Fiume. There was an increase
in the number of workers and bureaucrats, as well as of shop assistants in its
distribution shops as compared with the previous period. In 1922, the factory
employed 150 workers and 60 bureaucrats and shop assistants. The company
built apartments for its employees.’® Bela Muhary, who later became an
important Oradea shoe manufacturer, worked in this factory; he owned a factory
even before the war, and, upon returning from the war, he turned it into a
genuine factory with modern equipment and 60-70 employees. The superior
merchandise was distributed both in Oradea and in other Transylvanian cities.
The company became the “Tisumph” Boot Factory,'” on June 1, 1924, following
an association with two other businessmen, Lazar Leitner and Jené Mannhardt;
it went on to become a profitable enterprise: it relocated to new headquarters,
acquired modern equipment and increased the number of its employees to 250.
The factory’s profits declined at the beginning of the great depression, as it was
unable to stand up to the competition of the Cluj “Dermata” Leather Factory.'®

The “Carmen” Boot Factory was founded on January 1, 1923 as a small stock
company, its major shareholders being Jen6 Steiner, Miksa Hillinger and Adolf
Katsher, who were all successful entrepreneurs in the field.” It started out with
32 workers and a daily output of 50 pairs of lady’s luxury shoes. The three
owners decided to manufacture exclusively this kind of shoes because, until
that moment, such items had been occasionally imported by entrepreneurs in
Oradea and Transylvania from west-European countries.?’ These products were
genuine works of decorative art made of silk and brocade, satisfying even the
most pretentious tastes at much lower prices than those on the international
market.?! The company changed into an anonymous company on December 4,
1924; its fields of activity were buying and producing leather articles, as well as
selling finite products.?? The factory developed considerably in a short space of
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time under the careful management of Jend Steiner;?* following his initiative,
the Primus” Steiner and Co. Factory was established in 1925; its object of activity
was the manufacturing and selling of slippers.?* This factory opened branches in
some of the major Romanian cities, such as Bucuresti, Brasov, Craiova, Deva,
Ploiesti, Sibiu, Targu Mures, Timisoara etc.?

Other important companies in this field were: the “Delkan” Boot Factory, the
“Tiriumph” Boot Factory, the “Armonia” Romanian Shoe Factory - Iosif Bulbuca &
Comp., the”Mihai Faur” Shoe Factory,?® the ”We-Ego” Luxury Ladies® Shoes. The
last company was owned by Jeno Weiss who, before the war, had sold shoes
through the *Weisz and Gelbert” Store; after the war, he specialised in producing
luxury women’s shoes. His modernly-equipped factory produced the We-Ego
shoes that were particularly appreciated all over the Romanian Kingdom.?” The
company employed 100-200 workers even during the Great Depression. After
the recession, it started producing children’s shoes as well.?® Jené Weisz was a
member of the Commercial Guild and the Romanian Industrialists’ Association.

The manufacturing of fur articles was undertaken by the “Jozsef Leichner”
Fur Atelier, established in 1917; it became a factory in 1926, its main activity
being curing and transforming sheep skins.?” Jozset Leichner was one of the
most renowned industrialists in Oradea. His fur company was a Romanian
premiere in the field. After completing his studies in Vienna, he specialised in
Berlin and Paris. As a consequence of his skills and experience, he realised the
importance of producing ready-made articles in parallel with the manufacture
of luxury lambskin furs. In 1930, he took part in the World Exinbition of tur
products in Leipzig, where he received a merit diploma. In acknowledgement
of his outstanding contribution, he became a member of Oradea’s Commercial
Guald. In 1931, he was awarded the Commercial and Industrial Ovder, second
class; a year later, he received the Commercial and Industrial Order, first class.
His fur company also had a branch in Bucharest, deposits in some important
national centres and foreign subsidiaries in Vienna, Leipzig and Paris.*® The
factory worked only with lambskins until 1940, the maximum daily output
being 1,500 pieces a day produced by 300 employees working in three shifts.!
The production decreased after 1940 because of the lack of raw materials, as
the factory mainly delivered products for the army; despite this aspect, the
factory owner and his family were deported to the Auschwitz death camp and
the company was ruined.

Samuel Motzen worked in the same field, the production and export of furs;
in 1931, he laid the foundation of the “Majestic” Leather Factory, manufacturing
Chevraux leathers exclusively for Romania, alongside antelope skin products.
Besides the economic field, Samuel Motzen was active in the social field as well.
In 1932, he was elected president of the Oradea Orthodox Jewish community.
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There were several hat factories in interwar Oradea. One of them was founded
in 1919 by Simon Klein,** a local entrepreneurs whose commercial experience
had been gathered in Oradea and Budapest; he had learnt the art of hat-making
at the Siegfiied und Orenstein Viennese factory and, afterwards, he established a
factory producing ladies” hats and, later one, men’s hats; he also owned a fashion
store for ladies.?® His products, which always followed the latest fashion trends
in Paris, London, Rome, were sold in several Transylvanian cities, as well as in
Bucharest, where his company had branches. Simon Klein’s factory and store
continued to employ 100-200 workers even during the economic depression.*®
In 1920, a young man familiar with the new spirit of the age, Jené Konig,*” who
had studied abroad the modern technologies of hat-making.*® Another older
company, founded in 1910 by Heller and Deutsch,*” continued its activity; in the
interwar period, it was the general subsidiary of the Budapest “Gross and Weiss”
Hat Factory.* Its quality products were regularly advertised in the local papers
by means of slogans such as “Neither rain nor snow can damage my hat, because it
is bowght from Heller and Deutsch”.*' The factory depository, one of the largest in
Transylvania, provided a wide range of hats for reasonable prices, the best selling
models being the Borsalino and “Antica casa” hats.** The company was awarded
the Gold Medal at the 1928 Oradea Commercial Hall Exhibition in recognition of
its activity, while its owners received the Commercinl Merit medal.*

The cloth and textile industry flourished in Oradea in the interwar period,
some representative companies being “Fibra”, created in 1924, specialising in
the production of textiles, woven articles and ready-to-wear clothes; “Record”,
founded in 1927, owned by Mauritiu Berger and Jacob Rosenfeld, specialising
in producing textiles, shoelaces and ribbons; the “Regner & Weisz” Cotton Loom,
founded in 1928, one of the best-known and most enduring companies, its
activity spanning over 70 years.** Kilman Weisz* used his experience acquired
in Vienna and Berlin in the field of textile trade to build this factory equipped
with modern sewing machines and looms. The factory had deposits in Bucharest,
Satu Mare, Timisoara, Arad, Galati and Briila. The two owners, Kdlman Weisz
and Karoly Regner, due to their professionalism, managed to overcome the
difficulties of the great depression. In 1940, the factory employed 99 workers
and had a 90 horse-power capacity.*

Lipot Incze, a well-known local entrepreneur and building engineer founded,
probably in 1928, the “Electra” Shoelace, Lace and Ribbon Factory in Oradea.*” In
1940, the factory employed 69 workers; its equipment functioned with the help
of an 83 horse-power engine.*
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The chemical industry developed based on the production of primary chemical
products, medication, varnish and paint, soaps and cosmetics. Among others, one
could mention the following companies: the “Vesta” Chemical and Pharmaceutical
Factory, in 1920; the “Fragis Miiller” Chemical Factory and the “Dacia” Soaps,
Cosmetics and Chemicals Factory, both in 1921; the “Fiii lui A. Zankl si Lynatie
Huszdr” Varnish, Paint and Chemicals Factory, in 1923 and the ”Johanna” Soap
Factory, owned by Adolf Eduard Rothbart and Son, in 1925.#° Jozsef Reich,? the
son of an employee of the Orthodox Jewish Community, continued his activity
in this field, after taking over, at the age of 18, the management of the Oradea
soda factory following his training period in Germany — in Leipzig, Berlin and
Breslau. Upon returning to Oradea, he founded in 1904 the National Factory
of Carbonic Acid, whose distribution spanned the eastern part of the Austrian-
Hungarian empire.®! At the end of the war, Reich expanded his field of activity
by respecialising in the production of oxygen that was crucial for hospital
activity. He was an active participant in the life of the Oradea Orthodox Jewish
Community and was elected as its president in 1927.52 Jen6 Feldmesser®® was
an important Oradea industrialist, who founded in 1924 the “Clotild” Chemicals
Factory™ as associate owner. Another important Jewish family of industrialists
were the Rippners, whose first representative was Farkas Rippner, an employee,
then the majority shareholder of the Oradea Hungarian Needle and Celluloid
Factory Ltd., founded in 1911. After the war, the factory had the advantage of
being the only one of its kind in Romania, its products being sold all over the
country. The factory employed approximately 200 workers even at the height of
the economic depression. His son, Gyorgy Rippner, who worked with his father
in the management of the factory, inherited his trading skills and industriousness,
graduating from the Bern Comimercial Academy with a doctorate degree.>® The
“Aurora” Ether Factory was founded on August 27, 1905, by the “Adolf Moskovits
st fiti” Alcohol Factory, in order to process its secondary products.’” Consequently,
the new factory acquired equipment for producing ether and chloroform. In the
years before World War I, it exported large quantities of sulphuric ether, enjoying
some favours from the state.”® In 1924, the company’s shares were bought by
the “Léderer si Kalman” Refined Alcohol Factory and Mill and the Baia Mare
“Phoenix” Sulphuric Acid and Chemicals Factory Ltd., whose main shareholders
were the Weiser family. The new owners wanted a different development path,
so that, between 1924-1927, the factory bought equipment for the production
of bitter salts and ethylic alcohol. Despite the investments, the factory proved to
be non-profitable. Consequently, the “Léderer si Kalmdn” Refined Alcohol Factory
sold its shares in 1928 and the Weisers became its sole owners.> The factory
flourished in the period after the economic recession. In 1935, it signed a four-
year cooperation agreement with the German Bolbme — Petrochemie Factory in
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Chemnitz.

The “Vesta” Chemical and Phavmacentical Factory was founded in 1920
at the initiative of the chemist and pharmacist dr. Armin Messinger as a
collectively-owned company;® in 1922 it became a joint stock company, some
of its shareholders including Jen6 Schonfeld.®* He had previously worked at the
chemical plant of the “Krausz-Moskovits” Economic Enterprises in Oradea, as head
of the export department and assistant manager.®> In 1925, half of the company’s
shares were bought by the Weiser family, who also had shares at the “Awurora”
Ether Factory. Later, the company expanded its business all over the country,
having strong connections with the Ministry of Health, the Social Security Office
and the Romanian Railrond Corporation.® Between 1930 and 1931, it obtained
approval to sell any product in the Romanian Pharmacopoein, including those
manufactured by foreign companies.®* The factory opened a branch in Bucharest
at the beginning of 1940.

The “Fisi lui A. Zankl si Ignatic Huszar” Varnish, Paint and Chemicals Factory
first started out as a branch of the Graz-based ”A. Zankl Sohne Farbenwerke”
Pigment Factory. The Oradea factory was the largest in its field in interwar
Romania. It was also known outside Europe, especially in the countries with
which it had business ties: Egypt, Palestine, Syria, India, Argentina, etc. In
order to draw more clients, the company issued a product catalogue with price
information for 128 paint colours and shades. The prospectus also included
information about where they could be purchased for reasonable prices.®

The “Farkas Rippner” Hurpins and Combs Factory was founded in 1914
by the Oradea entrepreneur Farkas Rippner.®” He bought the shares of the
Hungarian Needle and Celluloid Factory Ltd., which was going bankrupt. The
factory developed gradually and became a model company; its products being
appreciated all over Central Europe.®® The factory survived the 1929 devastating
fire because it was ensured; it was then rebuilt from the ground and equipped
with modern machines.%’ The “Isomit” Combs and Bakelite Factory was established
on April 1, 1936, as a collectively-owned company that employed between 20
and 40 workers.” Its object of activity was the production of combs and other
household objects made of artificial resin. The factory was owned by Eugen
Birnfeld and Tuliu Weis who emigrated to Palestine because of the threats against
the Jews during the Second World War.

Oradea’s urban development on the verge of the 20™ century and later, during
the interwar period, required considerable quantities of building materials,
which triggered the emergence and development of brick and tile factories. The
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tradition of the “Kalmadn Rimandczy” Brick and Tile Factory, founded in 1885,
the “Vilmos Rendes” Brick and Tile Factory, built in 1888, the “Tarr si Czegledy”
Terracota and Brick Factory, established in 1893 and the “Vidcan” Tile and Brick
Factory, created in 1906, was continued in the interwar period by the activity of
the “Igndtz Seemann si Asociatis” Limescale, Tile and Cement Factory, the “Sandor
Wasserstrom” Tile Factory, both created in 1920, the “Star” Building and Brick
Factory Ltd., and the “Delta” Brick Factory, which had operated under these names
since 1922. The “Viican” Tile and Brick Factory Ltd., established as a joint stock
corporation in 1906, whose board members included Jakab Weinberger, the
owner of the “Emilia” Roll Mill, the lawyers Emil Adorjan and Ede Kurlinder
and the merchant Sandor Ullmann, continued to function in the interwar period
as well.” In 1928, the factory merged with the Industrial Bank Ltd. of Oradea.”

Sandor Wasserstrom was an interesting Oradea entrepreneur; he was both a
brick producer and the editor of the “Népiink” (“Our People”) Magazine,” a
prominent representative of the Oradea Jewish Community, an active participant
in the city’s economic and cultural progress. He studied at the Jewish school of
Oradea, at the Premonstratens Order gymnasium, then at the Law Academy; in
1918, he bought the “Jozsef Guttmann” Brick Factory, created in 1879, together
with the adjacent pieces of land,” which he divided in order to build houses on
a 15-street alignment. The partial building of the Wasserstrom colony became
possible by granting some facilities to the beneficiaries. He started publishing as
a young man, one of his favourite topics being the social problems of the Jews.
He was an active participant in the Mizraki religious movement, serving as its
Transylvanian president since 1928.

Other companies producing building materials operated in the city: “Melocco”
and ”Izsd Rosenbery”, the “Bitumen” Romanian Asphalt and Flooving Factory, an
anonymous society created under this name on the basis of a 1923 company”®
that carried out the majority of asphalting operations in Oradea and in other
Romanian cities. The “Melocco” Romanian Enterprises operated under this
name since 1922; they had previously been a subsidiary of the Budapest “Péter
Melocco” Cement and Building Materials Factory.”” The company produced cement
products, reinforced concrete elements, pavement pieces and sewage pipes.” In
1923, it was taken over by the Czitter family, but retained its previous name. The
recession during the fourth decade of the 20™ century marked the construction
business as well. Under these circumstanced, the new shareholders tried to
find new means of generating profit. Consequently, they established a section
producing black graphite for stoves and one manufacturing cocoa powder,
coffee surrogates, cocoa butter and various chocolate products in 1938.7
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The “Izsé Rosenbery” Cement, Asphalt and Ty Industrial Products Factory started
its activity around 1902;* ten years later, it was ranked first in the competition
with the cement factories from the central and eastern part of the Austrian-
Hungarian Empire. It also played an important role in the constructions erected
in Oradea and Bihor County® Equipped with modern hydraulic machines
powered by electricity, it produced ornamental cement and marble pavement
plaques and concrete tubes. The Rosenberg-administered factory contributed to
the building of a considerable number of palaces and private homes in Oradea. It
also provided the necessary materials for the city’s sewage system as a shareholder
in the General Sewage Factory, and for covering the Peta and Paris springs. It also
won the public competition projects to build 28 reinforced concrete bridges
and great dams commissioned by the “Crisul Negru” Flood Protection Association,
the consolidation of the Ciurgiau (Ceanu Mare — Cluj county) Pumping Station,
as well as for the water basin used for washing hemp in Sanicolau Roman, Bihor
county. Last, but not least, it built 16 reinforced concrete bridges on the Bihor
county national roads.®? It became an anonymous society in 1920, its object of
activity being expanded to cover the production and selling of asbestos schists
and asphalted plaques, the chemical production of lubricants from vegetable
oils, the fabrication and selling of tar products and the industrial production
of various chemicals.®® After adopting a new name, “Duratex”, the company
opened a branch in Bucharest.3* Izs6 Rosenberg was an active participant in
the city’s economic and cultural life, being one of the founding members of the
“Nagyvaradi Naplo” Printingg House joint stock corporation.®

During the interwar period, the number of Oradea printing houses increased
significantly. A large number of them paradoxically belonged to the national
minorities; this situation could be encountered all over Transylvania.®® The
most important printing house in Oradea, established in 1856, belonged to the
Sonnenfeld family who were also major shareholders in a paper and envelope
factory, as well as in an office supply company. The “Bibarea” Typographic Institute
and Publisher operated between 1920 and 1932; it took over the older > Aymin
Laszky” Printing House, whose purpose was to publish Romanian materials.
Gusztav Sonnenfeld was among the directors of the printing house; he was also
an associate in the most enduring printing house in the city®” This company
continued its activity from May 16, 1933 as an anonymous society under the
name of Administrative Printing House®® specialising in printing ready-made
materials.*” It also published the Western Gazette daily.

The activities connected to the foundry and processing of materials were
provided by the “Fratii Ivan” Foundry, established around 1920 and the “Phoebus”
Factory — Iron Foundry and Machine Factory Ltd., founded in 1926 as a continuation
of the ”Tutray si Klier” Foundyry and Machine Factory, created in 1906.%° The latter
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produced various forged pieces designed for local needs: construction pillars,
water pipe and sewage covers, as well as articles that were imported at the time:
car chassis, pumps and fountain parts, agricultural equipment.® In 1910, it was
transformed into a collectively-owned company by bringing in two engineer
associates, Mdrton Juba and Adolf Schiiller, who had come back from North
America;®* a year later, it became a joint stock corporation under the name of
Tatray si Asociatis” Foundry and Machine Factory, which also produced cattle
cars. Among its directors at the time, one should mention Gyula Fleischhakker,
the president of the Bilor County Savings Office, who was also a shareholder in
the “Farkas Moskovits si Asociatul” Boot and Shoe Factory and Imre Darvas, the
owner of the “La Roche si Darvas” Forest Logging Company.”® After the end of
the war, the shares of the company were bought by Zsigmond Erdé6s and his
associates, Frigyes Rumpler and Gédrdos.”* Under their management, the factory
soon became one of the most important industrial enterprises in the region, a fact
acknowledged by the signing of a 10-year contract with the Romanian Railrond
Corporation (CFR) to repair its cars and locomotives. Important investments
were made in the following years, among which the building of a workshop for
repairing and installing boilers and locomotives in 1922, a forge in 1923, and
a new foundry during 1924-1925. The number of employed workers reached
600-700. On November 6, 1926, the company took the name of the “Phoecbus”
Iron Foundry and Machine Factory Ltd.*® During the prosperous period of 1926-
1930, its technical director, Anton Roschenthaler, introduced explosion enygines in
the factory. The production, which until that moment had been based primarily
on producing locomotives, was expanded to other products as well. They started
producing, besides agricultural equipment for general use, oil mills, cranes of
different kinds and sizes and, for the first time, zool machines.”® Around 1930, the
factory management acknowledged the economic importance of crude oil both
in Romania and abroad and started producing tools necessary in the oil industry:
From this point of view, it was at the same level as all the important Romanian
factories operating in the field. It also started producing high quality cranes used
for mining, installations for processing hemp and linen, equipment for sugar
factories and slaughterhouses, as well as funicular railway cables. In 1937, the
factory moved its headquarters to Bucharest, while the Oradea factory remained
a subsidiary.”’

Jen6 Griinwald®® became known in the field of metallic constructions and
locksmiths; he founded a workshop in Oradea in 1893 and carried out fittings
for the majority of important buildings in the city, such as the City hall Palace,
the Moskovits Palace, the Rimandczy House, the Royal Coffee Shop Tervace, the Cadet
School (nowadays, the Cris County Museum), the Gendarme School (nowadays
part of Oradea University). His workshop became known in other important
cities in the eastern part of the Austrian-Hungarian Empire: it carried out the



42 * TRANSYLVANIAN ReviEw © Vor. XX, SuppLEMENT No. 1, (2011)

tittings of the Aiud County Palace, the Zalau Courthouse, the “Miramare” Hotel
in Crikvenica (nowadays Croatia), the Pallace Hotel and several other palaces in
Budapest. His name is also linked to the first-time introduction of autogenous
welding in Oradea.”” Following a training period abroad, in 1911 Griinwald
established an Iron Roll Factory.!® In 1922, together with his brothers, Mor
and Herman Griinwald, laid the bases of the “Griinwald si Asociatii” Metal and
Tin Products Factory, which became “Fragii Griinwald”'*! in 1924; it produced
a wide range of metal and tin products much in demand by food, chemical and
medicine factories. They expanded their activities in 1929, with the production
of wooden rolls. The factory supplied products to other large Romanian cities,
in addition to those in Transylvania and Banat: Bucuresti, Iasi, Ploiesti, Craiova,
Braila, Chisinau and Cernauti. In recognition of his activity, Jené Griinwald was
awarded the Order of Industrial and Commercial Merit, second class, in 1930.

As can be seen, the Oradea interwar industry, largely represented by Jewish
industrialists, flourished in the period prior to the 1929 economic depression
during which the majority of the well-known Oradea companies survived. After
1933, there was a period of slow, but steady progress; in 1938, the local factories
were once again faced with an economic crisis forecasting the beginning of a
new world conflict. Production was reduced to a minimum, exports were
deeply affected, while the financial institutions were faced with massive cash
withdrawals. The National Bank intervened in order to re-establish order. Thus,
the national currency was stabilised and the external partners slowly regained
confidence in the Romanian economy:'??

The dynamic economic life of Oradea was undoubtedly due to the prewar
existence of a group of local investors who were well-off, influential men
involved in the administration of the city. This group of approximately 60 people
took an active part in the economic, social, financial, architectural and cultural
development of the city by investing large sums of money and the substantial
profit taxes they paid for their businesses. Their names, as well as the sums of
money they paid to the city treasury, regularly appeared in the press of the time,
as the statistics of the City Tax Office published in the Tiszantil newspaper of
August 30, 1914, shows. Among the 110 names mentioned, one could find
Lajos Weinberger, the owner of the “Emuilia” Roll Mill, Adolf Moskovits, the
owner of the ,,Adria” Joint Stock Society for Industry and Agriculture, Kdroly
Andrényi, owner of the Iron Foundry, Karoly Ignidc Deutsch, who traded in glass
and china, Izs6 Rosenberg, producer of building materials, the architect Vilmos
Rendes and Jézsef Popper junior, who owned a grocery store, and a wholesale
deposit of spices, delicacies, wines, citrus fruits and mineral waters, etc.!%

The majority of Oradea industrialist and merchants were Jews, well versed in
the commercial life of the times, which enabled them to developed prosperous



businesses. Even though some of them came from other places and settled in
Oradea, attracted by the dynamic economic environment, they soon became
citizens of the city that they faithfully served and participated in its prosperity:.
They knew how to develop their own businesses and defend their own interests
without hurting the interests of the community. They were actively involved in
other aspects of city life besides the economic one: culture, charity, sports. They
were also loyal subjects of the various political regimes, even though these may
have sometimes stood in contrast to their own beliefs.
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Abstract

The first part of the present study is a brief outline of the interwar economic environment of Bihor
county as a necessary framework for revealing the contribution of Jewish capital to its evolution.
Later on, we highlight in the form of a monograph all the factories (from different fields: food
and manufacturing industry, chemical, pharmaceutical industry, etc., whose products had a secure
internal market) belonging to Oradea Jews who proved to be efficient entrepreneurs and whom,
through their activity, created representative elements for the local economy. In fact, the industry
of interwar Oradea and Bihor County was primarily represented by Jewish entrepreneurs.
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